5

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY COURT OF COMMON PLEAS JUN 18 2015

THE HONORABLE J. MARK HAYES, II

SC Court of Appeals

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-002755

Brannon Poe, CPA, LLC,

Respondent

vs.

Steve Stravolo, Stravolo & Company, P.A.,
and Upstate CPAs, P.A., f/k/a Mathur & Co., PA,

Appellants

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Scott F. Talley
TALLEY LAW FIRM, P.A.
2500 Winchester Place, Suite 100
Spartanburg, South Carolina 29301
864/595-2966
Attorney for Appellants

Christy Ford Allen, Esquire
WILLS MASSALON & ALLEN, LLC
P.O. Box 859
Charleston, South Carolina 29402
843/727-1144

Hannah R. Metcalfe, Esquire
METCALFE & ATKINSON, LLC

ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. **Only Stravolo was a party to the Agreement with Poe and therefore it was error to find that Appellant Upstate CPAs is liable to Poe for breach of the Sales Consulting Agreement, to which Upstate CPAs was not a party.**
2. **The trial court erred in calculating damages based on a merger of the practices, instead of a sale, resulting in an incorrect damages award to Poe.**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action was commenced by Respondent, Brannon Poe, CPA, LLC (hereinafter referred to as “Poe”) by the filing of its Complaint in the Court of Common Pleas for Spartanburg County on July 5, 2011. (R. p. 7). On or about July 28, 2009, Poe entered into an agreement with Appellant Steve Stravolo entitled “Sales Consulting Agreement”. (R. p. 7, line 5 and R. p. 12-13). Appellant Stravolo and Poe were the only parties to said Agreement. (R. p. 7 and R. p. 12-13). Pursuant to the Agreement, Poe was to list and advertise for sale Appellant Stravolo’s accounting practice known as Stravolo & Company, P.A. If the practice merged into another, Poe’s fee was to be calculated based on the practice’s former year’s revenue. (R. p. 12-13). If the practice was sold, Poe’s fee was to be based on the transaction price. (R. p. 12-13). Due to Poe’s seeming failure to obtain potential buyers for the practice, Stravolo terminated the agreement with Poe on November 17, 2010. (R. p. 9, line 17).

On or about December 20, 2010, pursuant to an Asset Purchase Agreement (“APA”), Appellant Upstate CPA’s acquired the assets of Stravolo & Company, P.A. (R. p. 121). The transaction between Appellants Stravolo & Company, P.A. and Upstate CPA’s was a sale of assets, not a merger of the two companies, as set forth in the APA. (R. p. 121 and R. p. 117-120). Poe was not paid by Stravolo and filed its Complaint alleging breach of contract by all Appellants. The allegations of the Complaint were denied in Defendants’ Answer. After the lawsuit commenced, Stravolo discovered that Poe had sent Upstate CPA’s an e-blast regarding Stravolo’s practice and knew Upstate CPA’s had viewed the link, but failed to follow up with Upstate CPA’s.

On or about March 9, 2012, Plaintiff filed its Motion for Summary Judgment on Liability Only and Defense of Comparative Negligence. (R. p. 175). Subsequent to the filing of said Motion, a Memorandum in Support of Plaintiff's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment was filed. (R. p. 230). In its Memorandum, Respondent relies upon admissions by Stravolo in the course of discovery. (R. p. 166-174). Stravolo did admit that the Sales Consulting Agreement was the written agreement between Poe and Stravolo; he further admitted that the assets of Stravolo & Company were *sold* to an entity related to Bharti Mathur. In response, Appellants filed an Affidavit of Steve Stravolo. (R. p. 117-120). A hearing on Plaintiff's Motion was held on May 14, 2012 before the Hon. J. Derham Cole in Spartanburg County. (R. p. 17). By Form 4 Order filed May 17, 2012, Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment as to liability was granted. Appellants herein timely filed a Motion to Reconsider. A hearing was held on the Motion to Reconsider on December 6, 2012 before Judge Cole. (R. p. 29). The Motion to Reconsider was denied by order filed January 4, 2013.

A damages hearing was later held before the Hon. J. Mark Hayes, II in Spartanburg County. Testimony was presented by Poe and Stravolo. See Transcript of September 11, 2013 Hearing. An Order was filed on October 4, 2013 (yet neither party received said Order until January 2014) granting Poe judgment against all Defendants/Appellants in the amount of \$41,536.64. Said order found that the Appellant entities had merged and calculated the "performance fee" set forth in the Sales Consulting Agreement based on a merger theory, not a sale of assets. During the hearing that led to this Order filed October 4, 2013, the issue of privity of contract between Appellant Upstate CPA's and Poe was presented to the Court over the objection of Poe's counsel (R. p. 52, line 25 – p. 53, lines

1-19). However, the Court's order filed October 4, 2013 did not address the issue of liability, only stating that it was not for the Court to decide based on Judge Cole's previous orders filed May 17, 2012 and his Order denying the Motion to Alter/Amend filed by Appellants. (R. p. 5 and R. p. 1). Both parties moved to alter/amend the October 4, 2013 Order. (R. p. 261 and R. p. 263). These motions were heard on August 26, 2014 before Judge Hayes. (R. p. 91). An Order was filed November 17, 2014 denying both Motions. Judge Hayes ruled that the Appellant's motion relating to issues of liability were untimely and were not before the Court at the damages hearing. Judge Hayes further ruled that there was no distinction in the damages calculation regardless if the complained of conduct by Stravolo was determined to be a merger or a sale. This appeal followed.

1. No Other Appellant Besides Stravolo may be held liable on the contract at issue.

Although the final order found all defendants liable to Poe, there are no grounds for the determination that anyone other than Stravolo should be liable to Poe. Poe had no privity of contract with any other defendant, and Upstate CPA's did not assume Stravolo's liabilities when it purchased the assets of his company.

a. There is no privity of contract between Poe and Upstate CPA's.

Upstate CPA's hereby appeals the grant of summary judgment against it regarding liability, because Upstate CPA's cannot be held liable on the contract between Poe and Stravolo when Upstate CPA's was not a party to that contract and is not a successor in interest under any merger theory. *See Link v. Sch. Dist. of Pickens Cnty.*, 302 S.C. 1, 393 S.E.2d 176, 179 (S.C. 1990) (finding plaintiff was entitled to wait to appeal earlier summary judgment ruling in appeal from final judgment, pursuant to S.C. Code § 14-3-330(1)). Under South Carolina law, there is a presumption that there is no privity between parties substantiating a breach of contract claim if there is no contract between the parties, as one "who is not a party to a contract generally cannot be liable for its breach." *See Holder v. Haskett*, 283 S.C. 247, 251, 321 S.E.2d 192, 194 (Ct. App. 1984). The underlying rationale behind this tenant is that the parties' intent in forming the contract should be effected by the court if possible; thus, if a party had no intention of entering into a contract with another, the former should not be held liable to the latter. *See Gilbert v. Miller*, 356 S.C. 25, 30, 586 S.E.2d 861, 864 (Ct. App. 2003) (holding language of a lease evidenced no intent that the landlord have a duty to protect plaintiff from a tenant's dog).

Here, Poe centered his argument for summary judgment on liability on the existence of the Sales Consulting Agreement with Stravolo. (R. p. 17). Paragraphs 7, 11 and 12 of

Plaintiff's Complaint allege that only Stravolo, not other Defendants, agreed to pay Plaintiff (Poe) any fees that may be due pursuant to the agreement. (R. p. 12-13). Stravolo was the only signer of the Sales Consulting Agreement, and all parties have acknowledged that the agreement dated July 28, 2009 is the only agreement that is the subject of the suit commenced by Poe. (R. p. 43, lines 10-13, line 25 - p. 44, line 1, then p. 52, lines 22-24). Appellant Mathur was not a party to the agreement between Poe and Stravolo, and nothing in the Agreement shows Mathur or Upstate CPA's intended to be bound by such agreement or even knew of an agreement between Poe and Stravolo. There was no evidence submitted at the hearing on the Motion for Partial Summary Judgment by Poe to suggest that anyone other than Stravolo was or would be a party to the agreement with Poe. Poe agrees that Appellant Upstate CPAs, PA f/k/a Mathur & Co., PA was not a party to the agreement between Stravolo and Poe. (R. p. 54, lines 6-8).

At the Motion to Reconsider held on December 6, 2012, Appellant's counsel spelled out for the Court that there was no dispute that the matter was a breach of contract case; however, there was no evidence, as suggested above, that any defendant in the lawsuit other than Stravolo was a party to the agreement with Poe. (R. p. 31, lines 14-15). At the hearing on December 6, 2012, the Court's attention was also called to the Plaintiff's Complaint, specifically paragraphs 3 and 16 which was denied by the Appellants in their answer. (R. p. 34, lines 8-15, see also R. p. 7 and R. p. 14). Poe, in his deposition, on pages 16 and 18, states that he is not aware of any conduct by the other Defendants/Appellants other than Stravolo regarding the Sales Consulting Agreement. (R. p. 32, lines 16-23). The Asset Purchase Agreement whereby Stravolo sold his practice to

Mathur states clearly that Mathur did not assume any liabilities of Stravolo, such as the agreement he entered with Poe.

Further, Stravolo contested the fact that Poe actually performed, thus being entitled to a fee pursuant to the terms of the agreement, and Stravolo properly terminated the agreement with Poe prior to selling to Mathur. Poe admitted that the agreement became in essence a 30 day contract that renewed unless notice was provided regarding its termination. (R. p. 59, lines 6-8). Poe acknowledges in paragraph 17 of his Complaint that the agreement with Stravolo was terminated on November 17, 2010. Evidence showed that pursuant to the provisions of Stravolo's agreement with Poe, Stravolo gave timely notice of its termination in his November 17 e-mail to Poe terminating the agreement, over 30 days before Stravolo's APA transaction with Mathur was consummated December 20. (R. p. 7).

In Poe's deposition, he admits that he had no knowledge of any discussions/negotiations between Stravolo and Mathur prior to his lawsuit being filed. (R. p. 192, lines 10-16). Poe admits that he never had personal contact or negotiations with Mathur or Upstate CPA's, as Buyer, regarding Stravolo's practice listed pursuant to the July 28, 2009 Sales Consulting Agreement. In fact, Mathur did receive an "e-blast" from Poe and opened the message to view the information, which Poe knew, yet he never reached out to her regarding a possible deal. (R. p. 190, lines 3-12). Poe admitted that he did nothing to consummate the transaction. (R. p. 57, line 8). Poe stated he did not do anything because he wanted to see "motivation" on Mathur's part, or in other words, wanted to see Mathur come to him. (R. p. 189, line 23 – p. 190, line 2). Yet, he knew Mathur was a qualified buyer because he dealt with her in the past. He had identified her as a qualified buyer but

did nothing beyond sending an “e-blast” to her along with other buyers. There is nothing in the record that shows Mathur even knew the practice in the “e-blast” was Stravolo’s practice. Poe did not pursue or secure the sale to Mathur and thus did not perform under the agreement. As a result of Poe’s failure to secure any deal for Stravolo, the agreement was terminated prior to the sale to Mathur.

The Order filed October 4, 2013 fails to address the privity of contract issue properly raised by Defendant/Appellant as it pertains to Mathur and Upstate CPAs. (R. p. 1). It is clear, however, that Mathur was not a party to the Sales Consulting Agreement and did not agree to purchase the liabilities of Stravolo or his company, and thus should not have been held liable to Poe for breach of the Sales Consulting Agreement. Further, Poe has placed no evidence in the record to impute liability to Mathur.

b. There is no successor liability theory under which a defendant not a party to the contract at issue could be liable to Poe.

The trial court seemed to base its opinion that Mathur should be liable to Poe on a theory of de facto merger, which is incorrect as a matter of law. The Asset Purchase Agreement between Stravolo & Company, P.A., as Seller, and Mathur & Co., P.A., as Buyer, is clear that it is an agreement by which Buyer is buying and Seller is selling business assets, not merging two companies. Pursuant to Section 1.4 of the APA, Mathur was not assuming any liabilities of the Seller, Stravolo. (R. p. 121-122). Mathur then formed Upstate CPA’s without Stravolo having a co-owner, partner, employee, or any other relationship to Upstate CPA’s.

In opposing the Motion to Reconsider, mentioned in more detail above, Poe argued from the Requests to Admit served on Appellants by his counsel but conceded that the agreement is only between Poe and Stravolo, not Mathur and not Upstate CPAs. (R. p. 34,

lines 3-5). This argument is contradicted by counsel in the Record (R., p. 35, lines 3-5) where the argument is made (the only time it is made) that all Defendants were parties to the agreement with Poe. Yet there is no evidence to support this argument – not in Poe’s deposition, not in his Motion to the Court, not in responses to Request for Admission and certainly not in the Sales Consulting Agreement itself. The argument could only be “supported” by a finding that Stravolo and Mathur/Upstate CPAs are one and the same under a de facto merger theory. This theory is not supported by the facts of this case.

Under South Carolina law, a successor company cannot be held liable on a predecessor’s debts or liabilities unless one of the following four exceptions applies:

- (a) That there was an agreement to assume such debts;
- (b) the circumstances surrounding the transaction must warrant a finding that there was a consolidation of the two corporations;
- (c) or that the purchasing corporation was a mere continuation of the selling corporation;
- or (d) that the transfer was pretensive of the transaction fraudulent in fact.

Brown v. Am. Ry. Express Co., 123 S.E. 97, 99 (S.C. 1924) (finding successor not liable where assets were purchased, liabilities not assumed, and predecessor left with substantial means). Courts have found subsection (b) cited in *Brown* to mean a merger of two companies, which “typically involves the transfer of stock, not just the transfer of assets such as real, personal, or intellectual property or goodwill.” See *Simmons v. Mark Lift Indus., Inc.*, 622 S.E.2d 213, 217 n.2 (S.C. 2005). Subsection (c) has been interpreted as a continuation or *de facto* merger theory. *Id.* In *Simmons*, the South Carolina Supreme Court stated, “[m]ost courts traditionally have applied the mere continuation exception (also known as a *de facto* merger) contained in the general rule on successor liability only when there is commonality of ownership, *i.e.*, the predecessor and successor corporations have substantially the same officers, directors, or shareholders, and the business continues

largely unchanged.” *Id.* Implicit in this line of cases is the courts’ allowing a plaintiff recovery against a successor when the predecessor is left without means to pay plaintiff.

See id.

As noted above, there is no evidence of an actual or de facto merger in this matter. Rather, the Asset Purchase Agreement between Stravolo & Company, P.A., as Seller, and Mathur & Co., P.A., as Buyer, is clear that it is an agreement by which Buyer is buying and Seller is selling business assets. In admitting paragraph 12 of the Requests to Admit, Stravolo was admitting that the assets were sold, pursuant to the APA as set forth. Pursuant to Section 1.4 of the APA, Mathur did not assume any liabilities of the Seller, Stravolo. (R. p. 122-123). This is exactly like the asset purchase in *Brown*, through which assets were purchased and liabilities were not assumed. *See Brown*, 123 S.E. at 99. Poe somehow wants this Court to believe that Stravolo’s admission that the assets were sold means he merged, but that would require the Court to disregard Asset Purchase Agreement’s disclaimer of liability and the intentions of the parties in entering into the agreement. (R. p. 121).

There are no facts in evidence supporting a merger theory, as there is no evidence that shares of Stravolo’s company were sold along with its assets, or that company ownership continued unchanged. (R. p. 121). There is no evidence of a de facto merger, as there was no commonality of officers, directors, or shareholders between Stravolo’s company and Upstate CPA’s. Indeed, there is no evidence whatsoever supporting a finding these two companies merged such that Upstate CPA’s should be held liable for Stravolo’s agreement with Poe. Poe even acknowledges that the firm was sold, not merged. (R., p. 45, lines 14-16).

Thus, the trial court erred as a matter of law in finding that Upstate CPA's was liable to Poe on the contract between Stravolo and Poe under a merger theory. The judgment as to Upstate CPA's should be reversed.

- c. The amount of damages awarded is excessive and should be reduced, because the transaction between Appellants Stravolo & Company, P.A. and Upstate CPA's was a sale of assets, not a merger of the two companies.**

Stravolo herein appeals the calculation of the amount of the judgment based on the following: his agreement with Poe, the Asset Purchase Agreement with Mathur and the consideration actually paid by Mathur to Stravolo pursuant to the APA. The Sales Consulting Agreement dated July 28, 2009 (the "Agreement") states that the Performance Fee shall be, in this case, 10% of the Transaction Value. Transaction Value is defined as "the total of all valuable consideration given in exchange for the assets or shares, if applicable, of the Practice. Valuable consideration is defined as broadly as possible and includes anything of value that is obtained pertaining to the assets or shares of the Firm. If the Firm is merged, the Transaction Value shall be the gross revenue of the Firm for the year preceding the transaction. Transaction Value shall include the full potential value of any contingencies."

Appellants argue that it was error to define the Stravolo/Upstate CPAs transaction as a merger; it was in fact a sale pursuant to an Asset Purchase Agreement and thus, the damages calculation used by the trial court is wrong. In admitting paragraph 12 of the Requests to Admit, Stravolo was admitting that the assets were sold, pursuant to the APA as set forth. Poe somehow wants this Court to believe that the admission that the assets were sold means he merged – nothing of the sort. The terms of the APA are clear that Stravolo was selling his business assets to Mathur. As mentioned above, the Asset

Purchase Agreement between Stravolo & Company, P.A., as Seller, and Mathur & Co., P.A., as Buyer, is clear that it is an agreement by which Buyer is buying and Seller is selling business assets. (R. p. 121). Poe even acknowledges that the firm was sold, not merged. (R., p. 45, lines 14-16). Pursuant to Section 1.4(b) of the APA, Mathur did not assume any liabilities of the Seller, Stravolo. (R. p. 122-123).


The deal between Stravolo and Mathur was a sale. (R., p. 71, ln. 13-21). Under the Sales Consulting Agreement, if the firm is merged, the fee is 10% of the gross revenue of the firm for the year preceding the merger, while Poe's fee was only 10% of the purchase price if Stravolo sold the assets of his company. (R. p. 12-13). For the assets, Stravolo only received \$220,000, not \$290,000 as set forth in the Order dated October 4, 2013. The preceding year revenues of Stravolo & Company should have no bearing on the determination of the Performance Fee due to Poe. The Transaction Value should be the valuable consideration actually paid by Upstate CPAs (successor to Mathur) to Stravolo pursuant to the Asset Purchase Agreement.

The ruling on November 17, 2014 that there is no distinction between a merger and the sale in the Agreement is incorrect. The only evidence before the Court regarding monies paid by Upstate to Stravolo pursuant to the Asset Purchase Agreement was around \$220,000 as Stravolo testified at the hearing held September 11, 2013. (R., p. 72, lines 8-9). The trial court's determination that the Asset Purchase Agreement deal with Upstate was a merger by Stravolo should be reversed, as should the calculation of damages due to the fact that it was not based on valuable consideration paid by Upstate CPA's and received by Stravolo, but was rather based on prior year revenues.

As to the issue of attorney's fees, Poe did not pay his attorney's fee as an hourly rate or retainer; it was strictly contingency. (R. p. 61, lines 1-2). Again, part of the basis for the order granting summary judgment initially was that the assets of Stravolo were sold to Mathur. This issue was raised in the Motion to Reconsider the October 4, 2013 order on August 26, 2014. (R. p. 95). Pursuant to the Sales Consulting Agreement, damages awarded should be based on the amount paid for the practice, which was \$220,000.00.

CONCLUSION

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