STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

The Honorable J. Mark Hayes, II

Appellate Case No. 2014-002755

RECEIVED
RECEIVED
JUN 19 2015
SC Court of Appeals
SC Court of Appeals

Brannon Poe, CPA, LLC,

Respondent,

v.

Steve Stravolo, Stravolo & Company, P.A.
and Upstate CPAs, P.A. f/k/a Mathur & Co., P.A.,

Appellants.

RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF

Christy Ford Allen, Esquire
WILLS MASSALON & ALLEN LLC
Post Office Box 859
Charleston, South Carolina 29402
(843) 727-1144

and

Hannah R. Metcalfe, Esquire
METCALFE & ATKINSON, LLC
P.O. Box 1826
Greenville, SC 29602
ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

Scott F. Talley
TALLEY LAW FIRM

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

ARGUMENTS

1. BECAUSE APPELLANTS FAILED TO RAISE THE ISSUE OF THE LIABILITY OF UPSTATE CPAS AS SUCCESSOR IN INTEREST BY MERGER, IT IS NOT PRESERVED FOR APPELLATE REVIEW. IF PRESERVED, SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS APPROPRIATE.

Poe brought claims for breach of contract against Stravolo, Stravolo & Co., and Upstate CPA. Poe alleged that Upstate CPA was the "successor in interest by merger to Stravolo & Company PA and Mathur & Co., PA." (R., p. 7). Poe alleged that the Sales Agreement "provides that it inures to the benefit of and shall be binding upon the respective successors and assigns of the parties, which would include Defendant Upstate CPAS." (R., p. 9).

When Poe moved for partial summary judgment on the contract liability, it sought summary judgment against all named defendants. (R. pp. 175-229). In support of said motion, Poe submitted a memorandum in support. The Sales Agreement, Responses to Request to Admit by Defendants, and the Deposition of Brannon Poe in support of said Motion. (R. pp. 175-252).

Stravolo, Stravolo & Co., and Upstate CPA filed no memorandum in opposition to the Motion for Summary Judgment, and filed only an Affidavit of Steve Stravolo prior to the hearing. (R. pp. 117-20). Stravolo's Affidavit consisted substantially of Stravolo's position that Poe did not perform under the agreement (which is not at issue in this appeal), and referenced Upstate CPA in only two places. The Affidavit stated the following: "On December 20, 2010, Stravolo & Company ceased operations and we

immediately transitioned our clients to Bharti's new firm Upstate CPAs, PA. The team members of Stravolo & Company, PA were immediately hired by Upstate CPAs, PA." (R. p. 120). Nothing in the Affidavit suggests that Stravolo challenged the conclusion that the transaction was a merger. Stravolo himself first disclosed and described the transaction as a merger in his November 17, 2010 notice to Poe to terminate the listing. (R. pp. 247, 167, 174). Stravolo wrote to Poe that "we have merged with another firm in Spartanburg, SC." Id. The only evidence in the record at the time of the hearing on the motion for partial summary judgment to contest that Upstate CPA was the successor in interest to Stravolo & Company was a previously "denied" Request to Admit that "on some date prior to November 17, 2010 Defendants Mathur & Co. PA and Stravolo & Co. PA merged to form Upstate CPA PA," and a general denial that Upstate CPAs was the successor in interest to Stravolo & Co. in the Answer.

At the time of the summary judgment hearing and order, neither Stravolo, Stravolo & Company, nor Upstate CPA had even presented the court with a copy of the agreement between them relating to the transfer.¹ Stravolo's Affidavit had no exhibits, and he entered none into the record at the hearing. (R., p. 18 ("no sworn testimony, no exhibits entered into evidence)). Further, when one reviews the argument made at the hearing on the motion for partial summary judgment, counsel for Appellants even stated that "as my client's [Stravolo] affidavit spells out, the merger of his practice with another

¹ Appellants include the Asset Purchase Agreement between Stravolo and Mathur & Company, PA dated November 5, 2010 as Item No. 8 on their Designation of Matters. However, the record reflects that this document was never presented to the trial court, nor was it made part of the record until the damages trial, which took place on September 11, 2013 (over a year after the order granting summary judgment on liability). Appellants should not be permitted to reengineer the evidence presentation and ignore the requirements the nonmoving party must come forward with specific facts showing there is a genuine issue for trial in order to defeat a motion for summary judgment.

firm is somebody that was the same person who bought this practice in 2007.” (R., pp. 23, ll. 14-17. The week following the hearing, the trial judge issued an order granting Poe’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. (R., p. 5)

On May 30, 2012, Stravolo, Stravolo & Company, and Upstate CPAs filed Motion to Alter or Amend the Order on the grounds that “only one party Defendant was a party to the Contract complained of yet the Court’s ruling does not state as to which Defendant the Plaintiff’s Motion was granted.” (R., p. 261). Again, Appellants did not, even at this time, attempt to supplement the record with the alleged evidence that Upstate CPA should not be deemed a successor. The court held a hearing on the motion to alter or amend, and concluded that this issue of Upstate CPA’s responsibility for the judgment had never been raised prior to the motion to alter and amend, and therefore pursuant to black letter law, it cannot be raised for the very first time at a SCRPC, Rule 59(e) motion to alter or amend. (R., pp. 1-2). Upstate CPAs argued that the denial of the allegation in the Complaint that Upstate CPAs was the successor in interest to Stravolo & Co. should suffice having raised the issue.

It is black-letter law in South Carolina that “[a] party cannot use Rule 59(e) to resent to the court an issue the party could have raised prior to judgment, but did not.” C.A.H. v. L.H., 315 S.C. 389, 392, 434 S.E.2d 268, 270 (1993) (quotations omitted). In order for an issue to be properly preserved for appeal, it must have been both raised to and ruled upon by the trial court. Elam v. S.C. DOT, 361 S.C. 9, 23-24, 602 S.E.2d 772, 779-780 (2004). Error preservation principles are intended to enable the trial court to rule after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments. Ellie, Inc. v. Miccichi, 358 S.C. 78, 103, 594 S.E.2d 485, 498 (Ct. App. 2004). The rationale for the rule is that until

the trial court considers the matter and makes a ruling, an appellate court is unable to find error. Id. Issue preservation rules are designed to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide us with a platform for meaningful appellate review. Queen's Grant II Horizontal Prop. Regime v. Greenwood Dev. Corp., 368 S.C. 342, 371, 628 S.E.2d 902, 919 (Ct. App. 2006).

In this case, Upstate CPA did not submit any argument or evidence to rebut the claim by Poe that it was a successor by merger to Stravolo & Co. No person claiming to act on behalf of Upstate CPA attended the hearing, nor submitted an Affidavit in opposition to the motion. Counsel for Upstate CPA made no mention of any objection by Upstate CPA as the successor by merger at the hearing. Instead, Poe submitted evidence of Stravolo's own admission in this email dated November 17, 2010 that he had "merged" his accounting firm with another accounting firm. And, Stravolo himself attested that all clients were transitioned to Upstate CPAs and all employees went to work at Upstate CPAs.

While the party seeking summary judgment has the burden to establish the absence of a genuine issue of material fact, once the party moving for summary judgment meets the initial burden of showing an absence of evidentiary support for the opponent's case, "the nonmoving party must come forward with *specific facts* showing there is a genuine issue for trial." Miller v. Blumenthal Mills Inc., 365 S.C. 204, 220, 616 S.E.2d 722, 730 (Ct. App. 2005) (emphasis added). It is well settled in South Carolina that a party "may not rest upon the mere allegations or denials of his pleading" to defeat a motion for summary judgment. Rule 56(e), SCRCPP; see also Strickland v. Madden, 323 S.C. 63, 68, 448 S.E.2d 581, 584 (Ct. App. 1994) (stating "an adverse party may not rely

on the mere allegations in his pleadings to withstand a summary judgment motion"); see West v. Gladney, 341 S.C. 127, 135, 533 S.E.2d 334, 338 (Ct. App. 2000) (affirming summary judgment where statement of fact presented only in attorney's argument would not be considered by the court in determining whether a genuine issue of material fact exists sufficient to preclude summary judgment).

Here, the trial court heard the motion for partial summary judgment, considered all arguments and submissions made by the parties, and decided that Poe was entitled to summary judgment on the breach of contract claim, subject only to a trial on the amount of damages. The grant of summary judgment in favor of Poe should be affirmed. There is no basis on which to remand this case to the trial court for further proceedings on whether Upstate CPA is liable as successor to Stravolo & Co.

In their Brief, Appellants attempt to argue facts which were discovered and made part of the record long after the court's order granting partial summary judgment on May 17, 2012. After the grant of summary judgment against all Defendants on the contract liability, the parties proceeded to take additional discovery for the purposes of the damages phase of the case. Appellants should not be allowed to reorder the record in this case, make arguments and submit evidence which should have been so presented to the court and Respondents prior to the grant of partial summary judgment. This issue was simply not raised by the Appellants prior to the court's grant of partial summary judgment, and the court should decline to review it now.

If the court were to consider evidence gathered after the court's grant of partial summary judgment, only portions of which were made part of the record (as damages was the only issue still to be determined), the evidence supports the conclusion that

Upstate CPAs was the successor in interest to Stravolo & Co. Steve Stravolo was deposed (after the grant of partial summary judgment), individually and on behalf of Stravolo & Co. He relies on the substance of the asset sale document to deny the transaction was a legal merger, but admitted that he took part in the plan to use the word “merger” “just for PR [public relations]” and to represent to “the clients of Mathur and Company and the clients of Stravolo and Company” that they “would now be served under one roof, basically, as Upstate CPAs.” (R. pp. 156-57). He stated that “the agreement I had with Sam and Bharti [Mathur] and Kim [Stravolo] was the public would hear a merger from a PR standpoint, that’s true.” (Supp. R., p. 295). Stravolo also admitted “I’m part of Upstate CPAs.” (Supp. R, p. 296). All of Stravolo’s employees, including his wife, who had been 50% owner with him, went immediately to work for Upstate CPAs. (R. pp. 156-55, Supp. R. 297). Mr. Mathur, on behalf of Upstate CPAs, testified that they sent out a merger announcement and told clients “we are merged and created a new entity called Upstate CPAs.” (R. p. 161). Both Steve Stravolo and Kim Stravolo are listed under “about us” on Upstate CPA’s website. (R. pp. 162-65). Upstate CPA “wanted to project that image, that he [Steve Stravolo] is still involved and that is a true statement, that he was involved in guiding people who happened to be his clients for the last 15 years, or whatever time frame, to essentially give that impression that it is okay; that it is still one organization.” (R., p. 160)

Because the Sales Agreement had alternative fee calculations depending on whether the transaction was a sale or merger, the trial court, during the damages trial, allowed testimony on the issue of whether the transaction was a merger, and he concluded in his damages order that the transaction was in fact a merger. (R., pp. 3-4).

Stravolo admitted that they sent out a “we have merged” announcement. (R. pp. 78, 161), and that Stravolo and his wife were listed on Upstate CPAs website as part of Upstate CPAs. (R. pp. 79, 162-65). Stravolo testified that “the reason I’m listed there is because . . . we merged together offices on December 20, 2010 doesn’t mean there weren’t clients that still needed help from me specifically . . . “ (R., p. 80). Kim Stravolo works for Upstate CPAs as well. *Id.* Stravolo even lists Upstate CPAs on his email signature because he wants his clients “to still feel comfortable that I’m around, and I I[sic] am, in the same building and they can stop by and see me at any time.” (R., p. 81).

Review of factual findings in a non-jury trial must be affirmed if there is any susceptible basis for the conclusion. Here, there was competent evidence to conclude that the transaction between Stravolo & Co. and Mathur & Co. was a merger. That finding should be affirmed.

In the absence of a statute, a successor company is not ordinarily liable for the debts of a predecessor company under a theory of successor liability unless: (a) there was an agreement to assume such debts; (b) the circumstances surrounding the transaction indicate a consolidation of the two corporations; (c) the successor company was a mere continuation of the predecessor company; or (d) the transaction was fraudulently entered into for the purpose of wrongfully denying creditor claims. Simmons v. Mark Lift Indus., 366 S.C. 308, 312, 622 S.E.2d 213, 215 (2005) (citing Brown v. American Ry. Express Co., 128 S.C. 428, 123 S.E. 97 (1924)). While the written agreement between Stravolo & Co. and Mathur & Co. appears not to include an agreement to assume debts, the evidence presented supports findings that support the successor liability of Upstate CPAs under all other three (3) exceptions: there is substantial evidence of circumstances

that the two corporations were effectively consolidated, that Upstate CPAs was a mere continuation of Stravolo & Co., or that the transaction was fraudulently entered for the purpose of wrongfully denying creditor claims, in particular the claim of Poe. (Infra. at pp. 9-10).

The court's order should be affirmed.

1. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ITS CALCULATION OF DAMAGES

Appellants seek to have the appellate court reverse the trial court's finding that Poe was entitled to \$41,536.64, and submits that amount of damages owed Poe should have instead been \$31,032.11.

The court conducted a nonjury trial on damages under the contract. Therefore, in an action at law tried without a jury, the trial court's findings are conclusive on appeal when supported by competent evidence. The standard of review is limited to correcting errors of law and determining whether the trial court's findings are supported by competent evidence. Beheler v. National Grange Mut. Ins. Co., 252 S.C. 530, 535, 167 S.E.2d 436, 438 (1969). If the trial judge reaches a conclusion of which the facts are susceptible, the appellate court is bound by his findings of fact. Id.

The trial judge concluded that the measure of damages was determined by the terms of the Sales Agreement which provided the "performance fee" is calculated as 10% of the preceding year's gross revenues "if the firm is merged," (R., pp 44-45). The court held that the transaction was a merger, and therefore applied 10% to the evidence of Stravolo & Co.'s preceding year's gross revenue figure (\$298,234) to conclude that the contract damages were \$29,823.40.

In response to Appellants' motion to alter and amend objecting to the conclusion that the transaction was a merger, the court concluded that the damages calculation of \$29,823.40 (10% of the preceding years' gross revenues of \$298,234) was nearly identical to a damages calculation under the "sale" alternative measure – that of 10% of the \$290,000 transaction price. The court denied the motion to alter or amend. (R., 3-4)

Stravolo & Co.'s 2009 Income Statement listed total Income of \$298,234. (R., p. 47). The transaction at issue, sale or merger, took place in 2010. The November 5, 2010 agreement between Stravolo & Co. and Mathur & Co. provides that that the Purchase Price is allocated: \$30,000 to equipment, furniture, and inventory and \$260,000 to goodwill, which totals \$290,000. (R., p. 62). The contract provides a payment schedule of four payments, the first two totaling \$150,000, and the last two payment amounts contingent on subsequent Stravolo & Co former clients' account revenue. (R., p. 76). Stravolo submitted evidence indicating that he eventually only actually received \$220,000 (R., p. 73).

Appellants argue that using 10% of the 2009 gross revenue figure was error because he objects to the finding that the transaction was in effect a merger. However, as set forth above, there was plenty of competent evidence in the record to support the conclusion that the transaction was merger. Appellants also argue that if the court were relying on the agreement price, that the court is required to use the actual amount Stravolo & Co. eventually collected, which was \$220,000, as opposed to the agreed upon Purchase Price of \$290,000.

The Sales Agreement with Poe provided that Poe was to be paid his "performance fee" at "the closing of the sale or merger." Therefore, the court has competent evidence

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